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Boston Water and 

Sewer Commission 

 

980 Harrison Avenue 

Boston, MA 02119 

Phone: 617-989-7000 

Fax: 617-989-7718 

 

 

June 30, 2018 

 

Board of Commissioners 

Boston Water and Sewer Commission  

 

It is our pleasure to submit to you this Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Boston Water and Sewer 

Commission for the years ending December 31, 2017 and 2016.  Responsibility for the accuracy of the data and the 

completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the Commission.  To the best of our 

knowledge and belief, this report is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner designed to present fairly 

the financial position and results of operations of the Commission.  All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain 

an understanding of the Commission's financial activities have been included. 

 

The Commission was created by an act of the Massachusetts Legislature that requires an annual audit by independent 

certified public accountants.  The Commissionôs audit committee has selected the independent audit firm OôConnor and 

Drew P.C. to perform the audit of the Commissionôs books for fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

 

The Managementôs Discussion and Analysis (ñMD&Aò) follows the independent auditorôs report and provides a 

narrative introduction, overview and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements.  This letter of transmittal is 

intended to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. 

 

The Commission is required to assess whether an annual single audit in conformity with the provisions of Title 2 U.S. 

Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements 

for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) needs to be performed.  In accordance with the Uniform Guidance, a Single 

Audit was not required because the Commissionôs federal expenditures were below the $750,000 threshold. 
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About the Commission 

 

The Boston Water and Sewer Commission (ñthe Commissionò or ñBWSCò) is a public instrumentality, a body politic and 

corporate and a political subdivision of the Commonwealth, separate and apart from the City.  It was established pursuant to a 

ñhome ruleò petition enacted by the Massachusetts Legislature as the Boston Water and Sewer Reorganization Act of 1977, 

Chapter 436 of the Acts of 1977 (ñthe Enabling Actò), on July 18, 1977.  In accordance with the Enabling Act, the Commission 

assumed ownership of and responsibility for the wastewater collection and storm water drainage system (collectively known as 

the sewer system) and the water distribution system.  The Department of Public Works of the City previously provided these 

services. 

 

Upon its creation, the Commission was granted the authority to independently set its rates and charges.  These rates and charges 

must be set at a level and amount sufficient to meet the Commission's financial obligations including, but not limited to, operating 

expenses, debt service on all outstanding bonds, any reserve requirements specified in bond resolutions and assessments for bulk 

water supply, water distribution, wastewater treatment and sewerage collection services obtained by the Commission.  These rates 

must comply with all applicable laws and statutes and must be set in a manner to ensure eligibility for any federal and state 

funding. 

 

The Enabling Act also authorizes the Commission to operate, maintain and construct all necessary improvements to the systems 

and finance its operations and improvements through revenue collection and the sale of bonds and notes payable solely from the 

Commissionôs revenues.  The Act further dictates that any revenue surpluses earned by the Commission in any fiscal year shall be 

credited to the next yearôs rates or returned to the City of Boston.  Since its inception, the Commission has generated a surplus in 

each year of its operations and has credited the surplus to the reduction of the next yearôs rates.  The Act may be amended only by 

means of further ñhome ruleò petitions of the City enacted by the Massachusetts Legislature, or by means of state legislation 

affecting generally all water and sewer districts within the Commonwealth. 

 

Management Objectives 

 

The Commission was created to maintain and improve the 

long-term quality and reliability of water and sewer services 

for all users in the City and to assure adequate funding for the 

systems.  The Commission is committed to the following 

primary goals: 

 

To maintain and improve the Water Distribution and Sewer 

systems.  The Commission is committed to a number of 

improvements to the systems, including following an 

aggressive renewal and replacement program, reducing 

unaccounted-for water, encouraging conservation and 

improving the environment.  The Commission is also 

committed to meeting or exceeding the requirements of all 

federal and state water and wastewater laws, regulations and 

technical standards. 

 

To establish and administer a billing and collections system 

that is fair and efficient.  The Commission has worked to 

establish a rate structure that fully reflects its costs, fairly 

distributes the financial obligation concerning its customer 

base and encourages water conservation.  The metering, billing 

and collection process is a central focus of the Commissionôs 

management team and the Commission is committed to 

maintaining a strong record in this area. 

 

To maintain a strong financial structure.  The Commission has 

consistently employed conservative financial projections and 

budgeting assumptions, maintained adequate reserves and 

achieved a reasonable balance between debt funding and rate 

funding of capital expenses. 
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To sustain the effectiveness of investments and comply with regulations.  The Commission is committed to complying with all its 

regulatory obligations under federal and state laws, including the Safe Drinking Water Act (ñSDWAò), the Clean Water Act 

(ñCWAò) and its National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (ñNPDESò) permitting obligations for both stormwater 

systems and combined sewer systems.  Compliance obligations also extend to meeting and exceeding the goals and requirements 

of the Boston Harbor Cleanup project started in 1985 and the Consent Decree executed in 2012 with the Environmental Protection 

Agency (ñEPAò) related to stormwater discharges. 

A new Stormwater Category was created in 2017 that focuses on stormwater management. The primary purpose of the 

Stormwater Category in the 2018-2020 Capital Improvement Program is to encourage participation in the Boston Harbor 

pollution abatement projects and implement green infrastructure to improve the water quality of discharges to the local receiving 

waters. The goal is also to study existing conditions and make recommendations for placement of new best management practices 

designed to promote improved water quality, ensure compliance with state and federal regulations, minimize flooding and 

strategically manage stormwater throughout the City of Boston. 

 

Commission Organization 

 

The Boston Water and Sewer Commission is overseen by a three-member Board of Commissioners appointed by the Mayor of 

Boston, subject to the approval of the City Council.  The primary responsibility of the Board is to ensure the sound economical 

and efficient operation and maintenance of the systems and to ensure the highest quality services to the City of Boston.  The 

Board of Commissioners is also responsible for setting clear financial and operational policy directives. 

 

The Commission consists of five divisions: Executive, Operations, Engineering, Administration and Finance. 

 

The Executive Division provides executive management, including policy 

formation and strategic planning, to the entire Commission.  The Executive 

Division also represents the Commission in all legislative lobbying efforts 

pertaining to securing continued federal and state funded rate relief.  This 

Division is also responsible for implementing and monitoring the Commissionôs 

affirmative action plans and for ensuring the participation of women and 

minority-owned businesses in obtaining goods and services contracts and safety 

management to the entire Commission.  Additionally, the Executive Division 

represents the Commission in all litigation.  The Human Resources Department 

is now part of the Executive Division and provides its employees with proactive 

personnel services. 

 

The Operations Division ensures the ongoing maintenance and emergency 

repairs to the Commissionôs water and sewer mains, service connections, 

hydrants and drains.  The Operations Division is also responsible for inventory 

control, management and maintenance of the Commissionôs automotive fleet for 

the entire Commission. 

 

The Engineering Division is responsible for high quality, reliable water, and 

sewer and drainage services.  These services are achieved by effectively 

planning, designing, managing and providing contract compliance for the 

construction of the Commissionôs Capital Improvement Projects. 

 

The Administration Division provides the Commission and the Commissionôs customers with administrative support services.  

The Administration Division provides its employees with proactive personnel services.  This Division is also responsible for 

representing the Commission at various public and community meetings, maintaining collections, customer services and the 

installation and repair of meters and the provision of facilities and support services.  The Information Technology (ñITò) 

Department is now part of the Administration Division and is responsible for the preservation of the Commissionôs technical 

infrastructure. 

 

The Finance Division provides effective management of the Commissionôs revenues and all its resources.  The Finance Division 

accomplishes this goal through its financial budgeting, rate setting, accounting and cash management, billing and adjustments.  

This Division is also responsible for financing debt, managing investment, providing procurement, investigating, documenting 

and resolving meter problems and erratic consumption.  
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Customer Base 

 

2017 Distribution of Customers by Account Type 

 

ACCOUNT TYPE BY LAND CODE NUMBER OF ACCOUNTS 

 

% OF TOTAL ACCOUNTS 

 

Residential    66,652 75.5% 

Other Residential     9,651 10.9% 

Commercial     7,201   8.2% 

Tax Exempt     3,831   4.4% 

Industrial       912   1.0% 

Total by Consumption 

 

88,247 

 

                     100.0% 

 

 
 

The Commission provides water and sewer services to residential, commercial, industrial, public, private and non-profit 

institutional properties throughout the city.  The above table and graph show the distribution of the Commissionôs 88,247 

accounts in 2017 as followed: 75.5% were one-to-three-family dwellings; other residential dwellings accounted for 10.9%.  

Commercial customers represented 8.2%; tax-exempt customers accounted for an additional 4.4%; the remaining 1.0% of the 

customer base was made of the industrial customers.  It should be noted that the Boston Housing Authority, which is tax exempt 

and is also the Commissionôs largest customer, falls into the classification ñother residential.ò 

 

  

Tax Exempt
4.4%

Commerical
8.2% Industrial

1.0%

Other Residential
10.9%

Residential 
75.5%
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2017 Distribution of Customers by Consumption 

 

ACCOUNT TYPE BY CONSUMPTION 
SALES IN CUBIC 

FEET(000) 

 

% OF TOTAL CONSUMPTION 

 

Residential     694,267 26.6% 

Other Residential     537,312 20.6% 

Commercial     648,985 24.8% 

Tax Exempt     659,017 25.2% 

Industrial       73,426   2.8% 

Total by Consumption 

 

2,613,007 

 

                     100.0% 

 

 
 

While the graph on the previous page highlights the distribution of the Commissionôs customer base by account type, the graph 

above illustrates the distribution of customers by consumption.  Although one-to-three-family dwellings have accounted for 

75.5% of the total accounts, the actual consumption is much lower, using only 26.6%.  Other residential customers accounted for 

an additional 20.6%.  The non-residential segment of the customer base (commercial, industrial and tax exempt) represented only 

13.6% of customer accounts but generated 52.8% of retail water sales.  These accounts are financially strong entities for which 

water and sewer charges typically represent a relatively small portion of their operating budget.  The high percentage of annual 

consumption by a relatively small number of accounts has had a positive financial impact on the Commission.  These accounts, 

which include hospitals, universities, commercial and industrial businesses, provide the necessary stability and diversity to the 

customer base while creating a steady stream of revenue on a monthly basis.  The composition of the Commissionôs customer 

base is highly regarded by credit rating agencies as a major financial strength.  Together with the Commissionôs proven record of 

financial management, we have achieved excellent credit ratings.  The Commission has received the following ratings from credit 

agencies: 

 

¶ ñAA+ò ï Standard and Poorôs 

¶ ñAa1ò ï  Moodyôs Investor Services 

¶ ñAA+ò ï Fitch Investor Services (1993 and 1994 Series A Bonds, 2009 Series A and B Bonds, 2010, 2012, 2014 and

   2015 Series A Bonds) 

 

Tax Exempt
25.2%

Commerical
24.8%

Industrial
2.8%

Other Residential
20.6%

Residential 
26.6%
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Economic Outlook 

 

The City of Boston is the regional center for financial, governmental, higher educational and medical services for the entire 

geographical area of New England.  The cityôs population, as estimated by the United States Census Bureau, increased from 

673,184 in 2016 to 685,094 in 2017, an increase of 1.8%.  Boston is also a well-educated multicultural city with 46.4% of the 

population at the age of 25 and over having at least a bachelorôs degree and 54.7% of the population made of minority or ethnic 

groups. 

 

Since the Great Recession in 2008, Boston had strived for a stable recovery with various economic improvements.  The cityôs 

unemployment rate dropped from 3.0% in December 2016 to 2.7% in December 2017.  Bostonôs December 2017 unemployment 

rate was relatively healthier than the national unemployment rate of 4.1% of the same period.  Both the state of Massachusetts and 

New England, in December 2017, also had higher unemployment rates than the City of Boston, at 3.5% and 3.7%, respectively. 

 

The world economy and the national economy have been undergoing some fundamental shifts in the last three decades.  For 

example, the industrial and manufacturing sectors in the United States have drastically declined due to the rise in worker 

productivity assisted by Information Technology and the growing levels of automation and off-shoring jobs to countries with low-

wage workers.  Boston, on the other hand, with its unique concentration of institutions of higher education, research firms and 

financial services, has persisted through many recent economic changes.  With 30 colleges and universities and 24 hospitals, 

Boston had more than four times the national average concentration of private hospital and higher education employment.  From 

2015 to 2016, Boston experienced positive job growth in all industries except utilities, manufacturing, natural resources and 

mining and other services. During that timeframe, professional, scientific and technical services added 5,025 new jobs, while 

health care and social assistance added 4,215 new jobs.  These sectors continue to play an important role in helping the state and 

local economies during times of economic instability and will have a major contribution to Bostonôs growth in the future. 

 

The City of Boston will face similar national short-term challenges posed by immigration policies and international trade deals.  

Long-term challenges include sustaining growth as the national economy reaches full employment and the Baby Boom generation 

enters retirement.  Based on the Congressional Budget Officeôs projected real GDP growth of 3.0% in 2018, 2.9% in 2019 and 

2.0% in 2020, Bostonôs economy will likely have more opportunities to grow in the next three years.  According to the 2018 

economy report by Boston Planning and Development Agency, Boston has been experiencing job growth above the rate predicted 

by employment forecasts and will have a relatively healthier economic outlook compared to those of Massachusetts and New 

England. 

 

Throughout the year 2017, the Commission continued to move forward by delivering effective service to all of its customers.  As 

a result of strong management initiatives, a solid financial foundation and the use of cutting-edge technology, the Commission 

will continue to meet the needs of Boston consumers with reliable wastewater removal and efficient water supply well into the 

future. 

 

Sources: United States Quick Facts, US Census Bureau 

              Labor Force Statistics, Bureau of Labor Statistics 

              Bostonôs Economy 2018, Boston Planning and Development Agency 

 

Major Initiatives  and Achievements 

 

Distinguished Budget Presentation Award 

 

The Commissionôs 2017 Current Expense Budget (ñCEBò) received the Government Finance Officers Associationôs (ñGFOAò) 

Distinguished Budget Presentation Award, the highest form of recognition in governmental budgeting.  This award recognized 

that the CEB met the GFOA program criteria as a policy document, an operations guide, a financial plan and a communications 

device.  The Commission has been the recipient of this prestigious award for the twenty-sixth consecutive year. 

 

Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting Award 

 

The Commissionôs 2016 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (ñCAFRò) received the GFOAôs Certificate of Achievement 

for Excellence in Financial Reporting.  The CAFR was judged based on its conformity to Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles (ñGAAPò) and its compliance with other finance related legal and contractual provisions.  The Certificate of 

Achievement is the highest form of recognition in governmental accounting and financial reporting, and its attainment represents 

a significant accomplishment for any municipality or governmental agency.  This accomplishment marks the twenty-fifth  

consecutive year in which the Commission has received this recognition. 
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Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protectionôs Regional Recognition Award 

 

In 2017, the Commission received the Regional Recognition Award from the Massachusetts Department of Environmental 

Protection (ñMassDEPò) for outstanding performance and achievements in 2016.  The award recognizes the Commission as a 

model public water agency that puts forth exemplary efforts in every area of water treatment and distribution including the Lead 

Service Replacement Program. 

 

New England's Best Drinking Water Taste Test Award 

 

The Commission won the 8th New England's Best Drinking Water Taste Test competition at the 2017 New England Water Works 

Associationôs annual conference held in September.  Boston's drinking water, which comes from the Quabbin and Wachusett 

Reservoirs, has won numerous awards for its excellent quality and taste.  This year, Boston's drinking water competed against ten 

other samples from New England.  This award makes Boston eligible to compete against other cities from across the United 

States, Canada and Mexico at the American Water Works Association's annual conference in Spring 2018. 

 

National Association of Clean Water Agenciesô Excellence in Management Recognition Program: Gold Award 

 

The National Association of Clean Water Agencies (ñNACWAò) has been the nation's recognized leader in legislative, regulatory 

and legal advocacy on the full spectrum of clean water issues, as well as a top technical resource for water management, 

sustainability and ecosystem protection.  In 2017, NACWA awarded the Gold Award for Utility Excellence to the Commission 

for its strong record of effective utility management.  The Gold Awards criteria are based on the Ten Attributes of Effectively 

Managed Water Sector Utilities and the Keys to Management Success, which were developed by a blue-ribbon committee of 

water industry executives at the request of the United States Environmental Protection Agency. 

 

Water Environment Federationôs Gold Award for Innovation and Project Management 

 

The Commission received the Gold Level Recognition in Innovation and Project Management ï Phase 1 from the Water 

Environment Federation (ñWEFò) in October 2017.  The recognition is part of the National Municipal Stormwater and Green 

Infrastructure Awards Program, which celebrates administrators of Municipal Separate Stormwater Sewer Programs (ñMS4ò) that 

perform beyond regulatory requirements.  The award recognizes the Commission for demonstrating a significant achievement in 

design, operation, maintenance and process change resulting in long-term water quality improvement. 

 

2017 Governorôs Citation 

 

The Commission was presented with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Governorôs Citation in recognition of dedicated 

service to maintaining a safe and abundant supply of clean water and commitment to protecting the environment.  The award 

gives formal recognition to achievements by both individuals and teams of state employees and their dedication to public trust and 

commitment to excellence. 

 

Environmental Protection Agency 

 

In August 2012, the Commission entered in a Consent Decree with the EPA and others in settlement of a CWA suit in the U.S. 

District Court.  As a result, the Commission is undertaking remedial measures designed to improve the Commissionôs practices, 

compliance and MS4 water quality discharges.  These remedial measures include a Capacity, Maintenance, Operations and 

Management (ñCMOMò) self-assessment study to analyze all aspects of the Commissionôs sanitary sewer and storm drainage 

facility operations and maintenance.  As part of the CMOM Corrective Action Plan, the Commission must increase its inspection 

and assessment of its sewer and drainage systems.  The program represents progressive increases in the number of pipes cleaned 

and televised with an end goal of completing approximately 10% of the system annually. 

 

Another remedial measure is the implementation of structural Best Management Practices (ñBMPò) including Green 

Infrastructure and Low Impact Development (ñGI/LIDò).  For the past five years, the Commission has implemented a number of 

GI/LID projects in collaboration with other Boston city agencies.  The latest such effort takes advantage of the Boston Public 

Schools (ñBPSò) comprehensive Educational and Facility Master Planning process known as BuildBPS to construct GI/LID pilot 

projects at five schools throughout the city, all of which are located in areas of high phosphorus loading. Washington Irving 

Middle School project, which completed in 2017, is the largest of the pilot schools and has the most GI/LID features.  This project 

includes an extensive bioretention feature, side-by-side concrete and vegetated swales and a new turf field ringed with trench 

drains, stormwater tree pits and a track. 
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Debt Plan 

 

The Commission issues General Revenue Bonds to finance portions of its Capital Improvement Program (ñCIPò).  The 

Commissionôs 2018-2020 CIP, which totals $219.1 million, anticipates that projects totaling $129.3 million, or 59.0%, will be 

funded from bond proceeds.  The 2018 budget for debt service is $51.0 million, or approximately 13.9% of the overall expenses.  

The Commission currently has ten series of General Revenue Bonds outstanding at the end of 2017: 

 

$  13.4 million 1993 Series A 

  16.8 million 1994 Series A 

    9.5 million 2009 Series A 

  20.5 million 2009 Series B 

  5.6 million 2010 Series A 

102.2 million 2012 Series A 

99.9 million 2014 Series A 

72.8 million 2015 Series A 

60.1 million 2016 Series A 

84.5 million 2016 Series B 

  

Capital Improvement Program 

 

The overall objectives of the Commissionôs 2018-2020 CIP are to ensure the delivery of high-quality potable water for 

consumption and fire protection, as well as the efficient collection of sewage for transport and delivery to a treatment facility for 

approved discharge.  In addition, the CIP includes projects to improve the overall efficiency of the Commission and to enhance 

the Commissionôs ability to provide services to its customers.  The projects included in the current CIP are intended to accomplish 

these objectives in the most efficient and cost effective manner. 

 

A new Stormwater Category was created in 2017 that focuses on stormwater management.  The primary purpose of the 

Stormwater Category in the 2018-2020 CIP is to encourage participation in the Boston Harbor pollution abatement projects and 

implement green infrastructure to improve the water quality of discharges to the local receiving waters.  The goal is also to study 

existing conditions and make recommendations for placement of new best management practices designed to promote improved 

water quality, ensure compliance with state and federal regulations, minimize flooding and strategically manage stormwater 

throughout the City of Boston. 

 

Recently, many major enhancements to the Commissionôs water and sewer systems have been undertaken.  These include the 

following: 

 

¶ City-wide Illegal Connections Investigations 

¶ Cleaning and Inspections of Sewers and Storm Drains 

¶ Implementation of Stormwater/Green Infrastructure Program 

¶ Improvements to Information Technology 

¶ Inspection and Rehabilitation of Steel Water Mains 

¶ Projects Affiliated with Consent Decree 

¶ Sewer and Drain Rehabilitation and Replacement in the North End 

¶ Sewer and Drain Replacement Program 

¶ Sewer Separation and System Improvements in South Boston 

¶ Sewer Separation in Roxbury 

¶ Upgrade of Automatic Metering Infrastructure 

¶ Upgrade of Customer Information System 

¶ Upgrades to Union Park Pumping Station and Satellite Stations 

¶ Urban Runoff Water Quality Evaluation 

¶ Water Main Replacement Program 
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The following tables show the funding sources and cash flows for the 2018-2020 periods: 

 

 

2018- 2020 Capital Improvement Program 

Funding Sources 

 

Funding Source 2018 2019 2020 2018-2020

BWSC Bonds 58,113,000$    46,484,000$    24,732,000$    129,329,000$     

Rate Revenue 17,236,000 19,736,000 12,564,000 49,536,000

MWRA Water Assistance 8,303,000 9,335,000 3,355,000 20,993,000

MWRA I/I Assistance 11,097,000 5,260,000 2,845,000 19,202,000

Total 94,749,000$    80,815,000$    43,496,000$    219,060,000$      

 

 

 

2018-2020 Capital Improvement Program 

Cash Flows 

 

Program Source 2018 2019 2020 2018-2020

Water 41,403,000$    38,057,000$    18,095,000$    97,555,000$       

Sewer 41,749,000 34,842,000 19,886,000 96,477,000

Support 7,925,000 5,810,000 4,400,000 18,135,000

Stormwater 3,672,000 2,106,000 1,115,000 6,893,000

Total 94,749,000$    80,815,000$    43,496,000$    219,060,000$      
 

 

Note: Although expenditures decrease from 2019 to 2020, it is anticipated that funding for 2020 will be equal to or greater than 

funding presented in 2019.  The decrease in 2020 is primarily due to the CIP being a one-year cash flow, over a three-year period. 

 

As shown in the first table, funding for the CIP is provided through 

four sources: Commission general revenue bonds, current year rate 

revenues and two grant/loan programs provided by the MWRA.  The 

primary funding source for the three-year capital program is the sale of 

Commission general revenue bonds.  Over the three-year plan, general 

revenue bonds will comprise $129.3 million, or 59.0% of the total 

funding requirement.  In 2018, bonds will make up $58.1 million, or 

61.3% of the funding required for that year. 

 

Based on the second table, expenditures are divided into four 

categories: Water Distribution System projects, Sewer System projects, 

Support projects and Stormwater projects.  Water Distribution System 

projects account for $97.6 million, or 44.5% of the 2018-2020 CIP.  

Sewer System projects comprise $96.5 million, or 44.0%. Support 

projects total $18.1 million, or 8.3%. Stormwater projects account for 

$6.9 million, or 3.1% of the expenditures. 
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Total capital expenditures of $94.7 million are outlined for 2018. Water Distribution projects comprise $41.4 million, or 43.7%. 

Sewer System projects account for $41.7 million, or 44.1%. Support projects total $7.9 million, or 8.4%. Stormwater projects 

account for $3.7 million, or 3.9% of the 2018 expenditures. 

 

As in the past, the 2018-2020 CIP programs will f und renewal and replacement (ñR&Rò) projects from current rate revenues.  

Renewal and replacement projects include water main relining, water main replacement (only replacement with the same size 

pipe) and sewer pipe rehabilitation.  The 2018-2020 CIP outlines R&R expenditures of $49.5 million, or 22.6% of total 

expenditures over the three years of the program.  In 2018, approximately $17.2 million, or 18.2%, will  be expended out of 

current rate revenues for CIP projects. 

 

The 2018-2020 CIP for the Water Distribution System continues programs for the replacement of water mains, the replacement of 

older or defective hydrants as necessary on all replacement projects, the replacement of water mains on new or reconstructed 

bridges and various design services, permits and paving fees associated with the capital funded projects.  Over the last ten years, 

the Commission has completed a total of $260.0 million in water distribution improvements.  These improvements have resulted 

in the replacement of 104.2 miles of water mains and cement lining of 34.9 miles of water mains.  The projects scheduled for 

initiation in 2018 will  result in the replacement of approximately 8 miles of water mains.  The primary objectives of the 2018-

2020 Water Distribution Systems CIP are: 

¶ To ensure a continued supply of high quality, portable water at adequate pressure for consumption by the Commissionôs 

customers and for fire protection 

¶ To reduce the amount of non-revenue producing water and to reduce the long-term maintenance costs of the system 

¶ To improve the operability of valves and appurtenances so as to advance the efficient operation of the water system 

¶ To coordinate the scheduling of system improvements with related projects of other public agencies 

 

The 2018-2020 CIP has five major programs for the Sewer System: the sewer renewal and replacement program, the increased 

capacity program, the sewer separation and storm drainage program, the Infiltration/Inflow program and special projects.  Projects 

in the Sewer System CIP include the repair or replacement of approximately 8.5 miles of deteriorated or collapsed sanitary sewers 

and storm drains along with the television inspection of approximately 90 miles of sewer pipe.  Also included are drainage 

improvements and the replacement of faulty tide-gates.  The primary objectives of the 2018-2020 Sewer CIP are: 
 

¶ Implement and manage contracts affiliated with the Consent Decree 

¶ Implement Green Infrastructure Projects 

¶ Comply with the requirements of the Commissionôs NPDES and Municipal permits 

¶ Minimize infiltration/inflow into the sanitary system, which will increase system capacity and decrease treatment costs 

¶ Reduce combined sewer overflows by reducing wet weather discharges and minimizing sea water intrusions 

¶ Provide sufficient hydraulic capacity for current and projected flows 

¶ Protect the structural integrity of the wastewater collection and storm drainage systems 

¶ Coordinate sewer system improvements with related projects of other public agencies 

 

Each year the Commission participates in the MWRA Infiltration/Inflow Program for Infiltration/Inflow and Separation projects.  

Since 1993, the Commission has received $83.7 million in MWRA funding for various Infiltration/Inflow and Separation 

projects.  The Commission plans to continue to take advantage of MWRA funding over the 2018-2020 period.  $19.2 million in 

funding is anticipated to be used for projects that are ongoing along with new projects for the three years 2018-2020. 

 

In 2010, the MWRA Board voted to authorize the development of a loan program to assist its member communities in the 

performance of water system improvement projects.  The program is called the MWRA Local Water System Assistance Program 

(ñLWSAPò).  The program offers interest-free loans payable over a ten-year period and is designed to improve water quality in 

local distribution systems.  The amount of funding available from the program is $34.3 million per year with Boston receiving a 

share of approximately $5.3 million.  The loans will be repaid to the MWRA over a ten-year period.  Loan funds are approved for 

distribution from fiscal year 2011 through fiscal year 2020.  The Commission has applied for loan funding for certain water main 

replacement projects awarded through the remainder of this program.  Projects costs incurred on or after January 1, 2010 have 

been considered for eligibility in application under the LWSAP.  From 2010 to 2017, the Commission has received $27.1 million 

in LWSAP funding.  It is anticipated that for the 2018-2020 CIP, $21 million will be funded using the LWSAP Program. 

 

Sources: 2018 Current Expense Budget, Boston Water and Sewer Commission. 

              2018ï2020 Capital Improvement Program, Boston Water and Sewer Commission. 
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Financial Information  

Administrative Controls 

 

Internal controls are procedures designed to protect assets from loss, theft or misuse, to check the accuracy of accounting data, to 

promote operational efficiency, to facilitate the preparation of financial statements, to satisfy other reporting requirements and to 

encourage compliance with managerial policies. 

 

The Commission is responsible for establishing a system of internal controls that provide reasonable assurance that these 

objectives are met.  The concept of reasonable assurance stipulates that (1) the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits 

likely to be derived and (2) the valuation of cost and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.  Federal and 

State financial assistance programs require recipients to comply with a number of laws and regulations.  Administrative controls 

are procedures designed to ensure compliance with these programs.  The Commission has established a system of administrative 

controls to ensure compliance with the requirements of the programs under which it receives financial assistance. 

 

As with other internal controls, this system is subject to periodic review and evaluation by management or by the Commission's 

independent auditors.  Additional enhancements to the Commission's accounting, administrative, and operational controls have 

taken place and are described below. 

 

Budgeting Systems and Controls 

 

The Commission establishes its annual CEB on a rate basis that is consistent with generally accepted rate-setting practices of the 

utility industry.  The financial statements contained in the financial section of this report, however, are presented on a basis that is 

consistent with GAAP for regulated utilities. 

 

The Commission identifies operating, fixed and capital costs and prepares an annual CEB and three-year CIP.  The Commissionôs 

Enabling Act requires that the Commission recover its costs of operation through fees, rates, rents, assessments and special 

charges.  The CEB defines the operational activities and other costs that must be funded from these revenue sources during the 

fiscal year.  The budget includes the costs of operations, maintenance and repair programs, MWRA charges for water supply and 

wastewater treatment, the Safe Drinking Water Act (ñSDWAò) assessment and Renewal & Replacement projects funded from 

current revenues, insurance, debt service and additional reserves. 

 

The Commission has developed this integrated financial plan to encompass all of its current expenses and capital improvement 

needs.  It also helps provide for the efficient, financially self-sustaining operation of the water and sewer systems and allocates 

costs to all our customers in a fair and equitable manner. 

Long Term Financial Planning 

 
The Enabling Act designated the Commission with the responsibility for the operation and maintenance of the water distribution 

and the wastewater collection and storm-water drainage systems which serve the City of Boston.  Complying with the 

requirements of the Enabling Act and the General Bond Resolution, the Commission is presenting its CIP totaling $219.1 million 

for the three-year period 2018-2020.  The CIP is made up of Water, Sewer, Support and Stormwater Programs. 

 

The Commissionôs Water Program for 2018-2020 accounts for $97.6 million, or 44.5%, of the total CIP expenditures.  The Sewer 

Program accounts for $96.5 milli on, or 44.0%, of the CIP.  The Support Program accounts for $18.1 million, or 8.3%, of the CIP. 

The Stormwater Program accounts for $6.9 million, or 3.2% of the CIP. 

 

Monies allocated for the 2018 programs total $94.8 million.  The amount mentioned is distributed as followed: Water $41.4 

million, or 43.7%; Sewer $41.8 million, or 44.1%; Support $7.9 million, or 8.3%; Stormwater $3.7 million, or 3.9% of the 2018 

expenditures.  
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2017 2017 PERCENT

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE VARIANCE

Revenues:

Water & Sewer $346,423,091 $352,320,637 ($5,897,546) -1.7%

Less:

Adjustments 9,767,045 8,808,016 (959,029) -10.9%

Discounts 1,213,001 1,494,155 281,154 18.8%

Bad Debt 36,131 352,321 316,190 89.7%

Subtotal 11,016,177 10,654,492 (361,685) -3.4%

  Net Billed Charges 335,406,914 341,666,145 (6,259,231) -1.8%

  Prior Year Surplus 689,086 693,227 (4,141) -0.6%

Miscellaneous Revenues:

Late Charges 1,177,752 1,409,283 (231,531)            -16.4%

Investment Income 3,507,142 3,239,523 267,619              8.3%

Fire Pipe 4,701,840 4,590,020 111,820              2.4%

Other Income 10,754,546 9,732,919 1,021,627           10.5%

Total Revenues 356,237,280 361,331,117 (5,093,837) -1.4%

Direct Operating Expenses:

Salaries and Wages 44,951,979 41,655,572 (3,296,407)         -7.9%

Overtime Wages 863,588 740,809 (122,779)            -16.6%

Fringe Benefits 8,234,524 8,415,134 180,610              2.1%

Supplies and Materials 2,082,549 2,292,143 209,594              9.1%

Repairs and Maintenance 7,662,450 8,043,640 381,190              4.7%

Utilities 1,305,207 1,612,853 307,646              19.1%

Professional Services 3,141,403 3,607,760 466,357              12.9%

Space and Equipment Rentals 303,229 319,184 15,955                5.0%

Other Services 1,829,979 2,019,150 189,171              9.4%

Insurance 508,943 528,409 19,466                3.7%

Travel and Training 67,629 113,500 45,871                40.4%

Damage Claims 84,415 150,000 65,585                43.7%

Inventory 21,183 23,000 1,817                  7.9%

Capital Outlay 59,986 88,000 28,014                31.8%

Total Direct Operating Expenses 71,117,064 69,609,154 (1,507,910)         -2.2%

Indirect Operating Expense:

MWRA Assessment 218,461,866 219,125,991 664,125              0.3%

Capital Improvement 14,593,495 15,877,000 1,283,505           8.1%

Debt Services 50,346,545 51,095,966 749,421              1.5%

Contractual Funding Obligations 945,000 5,420,347 4,475,347           82.6%

SDWA Assessment 202,703 202,659 (44)                     0.0%

Total Indirect Operating Expenses 284,549,609 291,721,963 7,172,354           2.5%

Total Current Expenses $355,666,673 $361,331,117 $5,664,444 1.6%

         EXHIBIT I

            2017 BUDGETED REVENUE AND EXPENSE ANALYSIS 

       (RATE BASIS)
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 2017 2016 CHANGE PERCENT

Water Revenue $146,125,562 $150,391,977 ($4,266,415) -2.8%

Sewer Revenue 200,297,529 198,249,241 $2,048,288 1.0%

Revenue Adjustments (11,016,177) (9,544,011) ($1,472,166) 15.4%

Prior Period Surplus 689,086 521,428 $167,658 32.2%

Other Revenue :

    Fire Pipe 4,701,840 4,601,031 $100,809 2.2%

    Late Charge 1,177,752 1,306,697 ($128,945) -9.9%

    Investment Income 3,507,142 3,732,740 ($225,598) -6.0%

    Other Income 10,754,546 7,093,016 $3,661,530 51.6%

Total Revenue 356,237,280 356,352,119 (114,839) 0.0%

Operating Expenses 71,117,064 80,045,320 $8,928,256 11.2%

MWRA Assessments 218,461,866 212,475,077 ($5,986,789) -2.8%

SDWA Assessments 202,703 195,452 ($7,251) -3.7%

Other Nonoperating Expenses :

    Capital Improvements 14,593,495 12,490,025 ($2,103,470) -16.8%

    Deposit to Reserves 945,000 2,313,000 $1,368,000 59.1%

    Debt Service 50,346,545 48,144,158 ($2,202,387) -4.6%

Total Expenses 355,666,673 355,663,032 ($3,641) 0.0%

Current Surplus $570,607 $689,086 ($118,479) -17.2%

        EXHIBIT II

      REVENUES AND EXPENSES - BUDGETARY BASIS

       FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016

      (RATE BASIS)
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Managementôs Discussion and Analysis 

Required Supplementary Information 

 December 31, 2017 and 2016 

Overview 

Upon its creation in 1977, Boston Water and Sewer Commission (the "Commission") assumed the responsibility 

to provide water distribution, wastewater collection and storm water drainage services in the City of Boston (the 

"City"). 

The Commission has realized a rate basis surplus from its operation in each year since its inception.  In 

accordance with the Boston Water and Sewer Reorganization Act of 1977 (the Enabling Act), the Commission 

applies audited surpluses to reduce its rates in succeeding years. 

To accommodate the rate making process, the Commission follows the accounting standards set forth in 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 62 ("GASB 62"), Codification of Accounting and 

Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements.  GASB 

62 allows certain (a) revenues provided for future allowable costs to be deferred until the costs are incurred 

(deferred credits) and (b) costs incurred to be capitalized if future recovery is reasonably assured (deferred 

charges). 

The statements of net position provide information on the assets and liabilities of the Commission, with net 

position reported as the difference between assets and liabilities.  The statements of operations of the 

Commission reflect all revenues earned and all expenses incurred. 

Condensed financial information for the most recent fiscal years is presented in this section of the report. 

2017 2016 2015

Current assets $ 304,384 319,075 287,022
Capital assets, net 1,377,447 1,337,352 1,302,178

Total assets 1,681,831 1,656,427 1,589,200

Total deferred outflows 47,235 58,417 68,553

Current liabilities 84,338 64,382 93,966
Noncurrent liabilities 548,106 575,092 520,903

Total liabilities 632,444 639,474 614,869

Total deferred inflows 706,348 682,079 652,233

Net position:
Invested in capital assets 823,307 755,338 764,282
Restricted 105,601 103,782 100,161
Unrestricted net deficit (538,634) (465,829) (473,792)

Total net position $ 390,274 393,291 390,651

Condensed Financial Information
(in thousands)
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Managementôs Discussion and Analysis 

Required Supplementary Information 

 December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 

During the year, the Commission saw an increase in total assets and a decrease in total liabilities, resulting in a 

decrease in total net position of $3.0 million, or 0.8%.  In 2016, net position totaled $393.3 million, an increase 

of $2.6 million, or 0.7% from 2015.  The Commissionôs 2017 operations resulted in a rate basis surplus of 

$570,607 compared to $689,086 in 2016. 

Since inception, the Commission has invested in various capital assets, including capital improvement projects, 

machinery and equipment, buildings, and improvements.  These investments, net of accumulated depreciation, 

totaled $1.4 billion at December 2017, which is 3.0% higher than in 2016.  In 2016, these investments also 

totaled $1.3 billion, an increase of $35.2 million, or 2.7% over the 2015 total investment in capital assets.  These 

increases in capital assets are the result of continuous upgrades of the Commission owned water and sewer 

infrastructure. 

Total operating revenues in 2017 were $363.1 million, which is 0.4% greater than in 2016.  Total operating 

revenues in 2016 were $361.6 million, which is 3.6% greater than 2015.  Operating revenues consist of water and 

sewer revenue, late charge revenue, fire pipe revenue and other income.  Water and sewer revenue in 2017 and 

2016 represented 95.7% and 96.8% of total operating revenues, respectively.  The increases in 2017 and 2016 

operating revenues were primarily driven by a 2.4% and 3.0% average rate increase, respectively. 

Total operating expenses in 2017 were $319.2 million, which represents an increase of 1.6% from 2016.  The 

increase in 2017 operating expenses was primarily due to a combined additional spending of 2.1%, or $6.1 

million in three-line items (operations, maintenance and Massachusetts Water Resources Authority ("MWRA") 

assessment) coupled with a reduction of pension expenses related to GASB 68.  Total operating expenses in 2016 

were $314.2 million, which represents an increase of 7.4% from 2015.  This increase in 2016 expenses was 

driven primarily due to a combined additional spending of 8.8%, or $24.1 million in three-line items (operations, 

maintenance and Massachusetts Water Resources Authority ("MWRA") assessment) coupled with a reduction of 

pension expenses related to the enactment of GASB 68.  Operating expenses consist of operations and 

maintenance, MWRA assessment, depreciation and amortization.  The MWRA assessment is the largest expense 

incurred by the Commission, representing 68.4% and 67.0% in 2017 and 2016, respectively, of total operating 

expenses. 

In 2017 and 2016; 85% and 84% of water, respectively, provided by MWRA was billable to customers.  Since its 

inception, the Commission has maintained the percentage of billable water at 78% and is continuing to take steps 

to improve the amount of billable water, including replacement of old and defective meters and implementation 

of a comprehensive leak detection and repair program. 
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Condensed Financial Information

2017 2016 2015

Operating revenues:
Water and sewer usage $ 347,601    349,948    338,220   
Other 15,456    11,694    10,780   

Operating expenses (319,247)   (314,169)   (292,641)  

Excess operating revenues 43,810    47,473    56,359   

Investment income 4,382    3,903    2,934   
Interest expense (20,900)   (19,637)   (19,769)  

Total nonoperating net expense (16,518)   (15,734)   (16,835)  

Excess revenues before capital grants,
contributions and transfer requirements 27,292    31,739    39,524   

Capital grants and contributions 1,797    8,367    30,549   
Excess revenues used to fund reserves and other deferrals(32,224)   (37,298)   (52,079)  
Change in accumulated revenues used to offset future rates 118    (168)   (132)  

Change in net position (3,017)   2,640    17,862   

Net position, beginning of year 393,291    390,651    372,789   

Net position, end of year $ 390,274    393,291    390,651   

(in thousands)

 

Capital Assets 

In fiscal year 2017, major Commission project additions totaled $49.3 million, of which $32.3 million was 

financed with bond proceeds.  Major project expenditures (in millions) are as follows: 

Relay of water mains $ 22.4      
Rehabilitation/replacement of sewers

or storm drains 20.8      
Interceptor improvements 0.1        
Separation of combined sewers 1.9        
Meter replacement 2.7        
Stormwater 1.4

$ 49.3      
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The Commissionôs 2018-2020 capital budget includes projected expenditures of $219.1 million for 

infrastructure and capital projects.  The major projects are for the rehabilitation of water mains and the 

replacement/rehabilitation of the sewer system.  Some water projects are financed on a pay-as-you go basis 

combined with interest free loans for water rehabilitation provided by the MWRA.  Most of the sewer 

improvements along with the installation of a new radio frequency meter reading system will be financed 

through bond proceeds.  However, there are sewer improvements that are funded through the utilization of the 

MWRA loan programs.  Please refer to footnote 4 for more detailed capital asset activity. 

Debt Plan 

The Commission is empowered by the Enabling Act to issue bonds and notes payable solely constituted on the 

general obligation of the Commission.  The Commission has no legal restrictions concerning the amount of debt, 

which it may have outstanding, subject to the coverage requirements described below. 

The Commission Issues General Revenue Bonds to finance portions of its capital improvement projects.  The 

Commissionôs 2018-2020 capital budget, which totals $219.1 million, anticipates that projects totaling $129.3 

million, or 59.0% of the Commissionôs 2018-2020 capital budget, will be funded from bond proceeds.  The 2018 

budget for debt service is $51.0 million.  Please refer to footnote 5 for more detailed long-term debt information. 

The Commission currently has ten series of General Revenue Bonds outstanding at the end of 2017, totaling 

approximately $485.2 million as follows (in millions): 

1993 Series A $ 13.4      
1994 Series A 16.8      
2009 Series A 9.5        
2009 Series B 20.5      
2010 Series A 5.6        
2012 Series A 102.2    
2014 Series A 99.9      
2015 Series A 72.8      
2016 Series A 60.1      
2016 Series B 84.4      

$ 485.2    
 

 

Debt Service Coverage Requirements 

The Commissionôs bond covenants require that rates and charges be at least sufficient to provide revenues (i) to 

pay all current expenses of the Commission, (ii) to pay the principal of, premium if any, and interest on all bonds 

issued by the Commission as they become due and payable, (iii) to create and maintain such reasonable reserves 

as may be reasonably required by any trust agreement or resolution securing bonds, (iv) to provide funds for 

paying the cost of all necessary repairs, replacements and renewal of the systems and (v) to pay or provide for 

any and all amounts which the Commission may be obligated to pay or provide for by law or contract.  The 

Commission is also required to establish and maintain rates and charges at levels sufficient so that total net 

revenues in each year during which bonds are outstanding will equal at least 125% of (1) the bond debt service  
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requirement during such year less (2) the amount, if any, of bond proceeds available to pay interest becoming due 

in such year on bonds outstanding as of the first day of such year.  The Commission has exceeded the 125% debt 

service coverage requirement of the Resolution in each year since its inception in 1977. 

Additional Bonds and Refunding Bonds 

The Enabling Act permits the issuance of additional bonds for paying the cost of any project, making deposits in 

various funds established under the Enabling Act, paying costs of issuance, paying the principal, premium and 

interest on any notes issued in anticipation of additional bonds, or any combination of the above. 

Refunding bonds may also be issued by the Commission only upon certifying that the aggregate debt service in 

each fiscal year in which Refunding Bonds are outstanding will not be increased because of the issuance of the 

Refunding Bonds; provided that, in lieu of such certification, the Commission may deliver to the Trustee 

certificates satisfying the conditions described above for the issuance of additional bonds. 

Budgets and Rates 

The Commission is required by law to be self-sustaining to set its rates at a level sufficient to cover expenses and 

debt service requirements each year. 

In 2006 the Commission modified its inclining block rate structure.  The number of rate blocks was reduced from 

ten to six, thereby making the structure easier to understand for customers while still promoting water 

conservation and generating sufficient revenue.  In 2017 and 2016, the Commission increased its water and sewer 

rates by an average of 2.4% and 3.0% respectively.  The major reasons behind these increases were: (i) the 

increase in assessment paid to the MWRA, and (ii) the decline in water sales due to general water conservation 

efforts of individuals and businesses throughout the City. 

Effective January 1, 2018, the Commission increased its water and sewer rates by an average of 4.75%. 

Credit Ratings 

The Commissionôs revenue bonds are rated ñAa1ò by Moodyôs Investors Service and ñAA+ò by Standard and 

Poorôs, and previously ñAA+ò by Fitch Ratings for all bonds issued before 2016. 

Contacting the Commissionôs Financial Management 

This report is designed to provide our bondholders, customers and other interested parties with a general 

overview of the Commissionôs finances and to demonstrate the Commissionôs accountability for the revenue it 

receives.  If you have questions about this report or need additional information, contact Boston Water and Sewer 

Commission Finance Department in writing at 980 Harrison Avenue, Boston, MA 02119, or by telephone 617-

989-7000, or on the web at www.bwsc.org. 

 

 

http://www.bwsc.org/
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION

Statements of Net Position

Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

Assets 2017 2016

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,338,703    8,343,002   
Restricted cash and investments (Notes 5 and 11) 245,563,066    260,419,706   
Accounts receivable, net:

Customers, less allowances of $2,730,865  
in 2017 and $2,731,284 in 2016 (Note 1) 21,509,306    22,867,815   

Unbilled revenues, less allowances of $1,702,361 in 2017 and 2016 27,352,360    26,740,428   
Prepaid expenses 620,514    704,032   

Total current assets 304,383,949    319,074,983   

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets (Note 4):

Depreciable, net 1,259,581,135    1,215,562,374   
Nondepreciable 117,865,856    121,788,889   

Total noncurrent assets 1,377,446,991    1,337,351,263   

Total Assets 1,681,830,940    1,656,426,246   

Deferred Outflows of Resources 
Deferred charges (Note 2) 47,235,099    50,461,940   

Liabilities

Current liabilities:
Payable from current assets:

Accounts payable 16,319,721    17,662,374   
Other accrued liabilities 9,811,867    12,126,058   
Commercial paper notes (Note 6) 25,000,000    ð    
Current portion of long-term notes (Note 5) 5,693,737    8,089,510   
Current portion of revenue bonds (Note 5) 27,512,740    26,503,568   

Total current liabilities 84,338,065    64,381,510   

Noncurrent liabilities:

Long-term notes (Note 5) 22,323,605    21,297,019   
Revenue bonds, net (Note 5) 498,609,853    526,122,589   
Net pension liability (Note 9) 25,976,537    26,503,599   
Other long-term liabilities (Note 14) 1,195,734    1,168,599   

Total noncurrent liabilities 548,105,729    575,091,806   

Total Liabilities 632,443,794    639,473,316   

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred credits and reserves (Note 3) 706,348,404    674,123,966   

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 13 and 14)

Net Position

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 823,307,056    755,338,577   
Restricted for debt service 51,837,518    51,558,245   
Restricted for capital assets 200,300    199,829   
Restricted for debt covenants 53,562,754    52,023,329   
Unrestricted net deficit (538,633,787)   (465,829,076)  

Total Net Position $ 390,273,841    393,290,904   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position

Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

2017 2016

Operating revenues:
Water and sewer usage (Note 1) $ 347,600,844    349,947,915   
Fire pipe 4,701,840    4,601,031   
Other 10,754,546    7,093,016   

Total operating revenues 363,057,230    361,641,962   

Operating expenses:
Operations 73,739,107    73,988,041   
Maintenance 7,662,450    7,289,132   
MWRA assessment (Note 7) 218,461,866    212,475,077   
Depreciation and amortization 19,383,217    20,416,904   

Total operating expenses 319,246,640    314,169,154   

Excess operating revenues 43,810,590    47,472,808   

Nonoperating revenue (expense):
Investment income: 4,382,001    3,903,063   
Interest expense (20,900,144)   (19,637,265)  

Total nonoperating net expense (16,518,143)   (15,734,202)  

Excess revenues before capital grants and
contributions and transfer requirements 27,292,447    31,738,606   

Capital grants and contributions: (Note 1) 1,796,449    8,366,915   

Excess revenues before transfer requirements 29,088,896    40,105,521   

Excess revenues used to fund reserves and other deferrals (Note 3) (32,224,438)   (37,298,053)  
Change in accumulated revenues used to offset future rates (Note 3) 118,479    (167,659)  

Change in net position (3,017,063)   2,639,809   

Net position, beginning of year 393,290,904    390,651,095   

Net position, end of year $ 390,273,841    393,290,904   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION

Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

2017 2016

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers $ 363,803,807    360,912,066   
Payments to suppliers (246,250,843)   (259,430,410)  
Payments to employees (59,916,152)   (58,866,231)  

Net cash provided by operating activities 57,636,812    42,615,425   

Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment income 4,382,001    5,442,084   
Sales of investments 206,632,924    196,043,371   
Purchases of investments (210,210,888)   (206,632,924)  

Net cash provided by (applied to) investing activities 804,037    (5,147,469)  

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Purchase of capital assets (61,876,267)   (57,726,344)  
Proceeds from long-term notes 6,720,324    3,875,400   
Proceeds from revenue bonds ð    166,036,408   
Payment of long-term notes (7,240,444)   (8,501,646)  
Payment of revenue bonds (21,595,000)   (85,800,000)  
Proceeds from commercial paper 25,000,000    25,000,000   

Payment of commercial paper ð    (50,000,000)  
Capital grants and contributions 740,132    8,089,806   
Payment of interest (22,758,544)   (19,292,419)  

Net cash applied to capital and related financing activities (81,009,799)   (18,318,795)  

Net increase (decrease) (22,568,950)   19,149,161   

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 121,365,281    102,216,120   

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 98,796,331    121,365,281   

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Excess operating revenues $ 43,810,590    47,472,808   
Adjustment to reconcile operating income to net cash:Reserves released to stabilize rates ð    ð    

Depreciation and amortization 19,383,217    20,416,904   
Deferred outflows of resources (1,577,477)   (5,644,699)  
Change in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net 1,358,509    (1,442,641)  
Unbilled revenues (611,932)   256,206   
Prepaid expenses 83,518    (134,162)  

Accounts payable (2,149,386)   (1,715,253)  

Other accrued liabilities (2,160,299)   (4,151,148)  

Other long-term liabilities 27,135    (14,909)  

Net pension activity (527,062)   (12,427,681)  

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 57,636,812    42,615,425   

Noncash capital and related financing activities:

Bond issuance costs $ ð    456,543   

MWPAT subsidized loan repyaments (Note 4) $ 849,067    277,109   

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of the following:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,338,703    8,343,002   

Money market and cash investments in restricted cash and investments 55,304,371    59,149,618   
Cash in restricted cash and investments 34,153,257    53,872,661   

Total $ 98,796,331    121,365,281   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 
 

(1) Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Boston Water and Sewer Commission (the "Commission") has the responsibility to provide water and 

wastewater services on a fair and equitable basis in the City of Boston (the "City") as required under the 

Boston Water and Sewer Reorganization Act of 1977 (the "Enabling Act"). 

Under the Enabling Act, the Commission is subject to regulation with respect to rates, accounting and other 

matters, where applicable, by the board of commissioners (the "Board").  The Board is appointed by the 

Cityôs Mayor, subject to confirmation by the City Council.  It regulates the rates that the Commission can 

charge its customers for water and sewer usage.  The rates charged to customers are based on the cash 

requirements to cover the Commissionôs operations, debt service, and reserve contributions.  To comply 

with the external financial reporting requirements of the Board, the accompanying financial statements are 

presented on a basis that is consistent with United States of America generally accepted accounting 

principles (GAAP) for regulated utilities (i.e., the accrual basis of accounting and the capital maintenance 

measurement focus). 

To accommodate the rate making process, the Commission follows the accounting standards set forth in 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 62 ("GASB 62"), Codification of Accounting 

and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA 

Pronouncements.  GASB 62 allows certain board-approved (a) revenues provided for future allowable costs 

to be deferred until the costs are incurred (deferred credits) and (b) costs incurred to be capitalized if future 

recovery is reasonably assured (deferred charges).  Revenues and expenses appearing in the supplemental 

schedule of revenues and expenses ï rate basis is presented in the same format as utilized in the 

Commissionôs operational budgeting and rate setting process.  The revenues and expenses shown on the 

statements of revenues and expenses are presented on a GAAP basis.  Reconciliation between the revenues 

and expenses of these two operating statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 is provided below: 

Revenues Expenses

As presented in the statements of revenues and expenses:
Operating revenues/expenses $ 363,057,230    319,246,640   
Investment income/interest expense 4,382,001    20,900,144   

Total 367,439,231    340,146,784   

Reclassifications and deferrals:
Contributions to reserves ð    945,000   
GAAP adjustments (11,016,178)   (11,016,178)  
Excess bond payments over depreciation and amortization ð    10,204,845   
Interest expense (escrowed funds) ð    (2,871)  
Investment income (escrowed funds) (874,859)   ð    
Capital expenditures ð    14,514,696   
Excess revenue used to offset current rates 689,086    ð    
Other deferrals ð    874,397   

As presented in the supplemental schedule
of revenues and expenses  - rate basis $ 356,237,280    355,666,673   
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 
 

(1)  Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

The Enabling Act requires that any net surplus, as defined by the rate-setting process, be either turned over 

to the City or applied to offset water and sewer rates for the following year.  The Commission has applied 

$570,607 and $689,086 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, to offset rates in the 

respective subsequent years. 

(a) Revenue Billings 

Water and sewerage fees are billed to users of the systems on a monthly-cycle basis.  Revenues are 

accrued for periods between the termination of billings for the various cycles and the end of the year.  

Some adjustments are made on a post-billing basis that reduce the number of total billings.  The total 

customer bills outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were approximately $24.2 million and 

$25.6 million, respectively.  These net billing amounts are reduced by an allowance for uncollectible 

accounts of approximately $2.7 million in 2017 and 2016 to arrive at the net accounts receivable.  

Charges for water and sewer services provided, but unbilled, at year end are estimated based on a 

historical usage.  The calculation is reduced by an allowance for the adjustment of approximately $1.7 

million in 2017 and 2016 to arrive at the net accounts receivable. 

 (b) Investments 

Investments are stated at fair value. Fair value is based on quoted market prices. 

The Commission categorizes the fair value measurements of its investments based on the hierarchy 

established by generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the GASB.  The fair value 

hierarchy, which has three levels, is based on the valuation inputs used to measure an assetôs fair 

value: Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are 

significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.  The 

Commission does not have any investments that are measured using Level 2 or 3 inputs as disclosed 

in Note 11. 

 (c) Capital Assets 

Capital assets are stated at historical cost.  Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method based 

upon the estimated useful lives of the various classes of assets.  Maintenance and repairs are charged 

to expense as incurred.  Major renewals or betterments over $500 are capitalized and depreciated over 

their estimated useful lives. 

The Commission capitalizes interest costs during construction of assets for its own use.  No interest 

was capitalized in 2017 and 2016. 
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 

(1)  Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

(d) Compensated Absences 

Employees of the Commission accumulate unused sick time (subject to certain limitations) to be used 

later or a percentage paid in cash upon voluntary resignation and/or retirement from the Commission 

(subject to Commission policies and/or bargaining agreements).  The liability for vacation leave is 

based on the amount earned but not used; for sick leave, it is based on a percentage of the amount 

accumulated at the statement of net position dates that would be paid to employees on termination.  

The liability for each amount is calculated based on the pay or salary rates in effect as of the date of 

the statement of net position. 

 (e) Business-Type Activity Accounting  

Business-type activity funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  

Operating revenues and expenses result from providing services relating to ongoing operations.  All 

revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and 

expenses. 

 (f) Depreciation 

The Commission provides for depreciation using the straight-line method.  Estimated useful lives 

used in computing depreciation are as follows: 

Years

Water:
Works 100
Meters 10
Hydrants 40

Sewerage:
Works 75
Pumping station 35
Buildings 40
Other 4 to 14

 

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Commission considers all highly liquid, short-term cash investments with original maturities of 

three months or less to be cash equivalents for purposes of the statement of cash flows. 

(h) Deferred Inflows and Outflows 

Deferred inflows and outflows represent the consumption or acquisition of net assets applicable to a 

future reporting period.  These are typically items of an asset or liability nature for which an exchange 

transaction is not inherent to their realization or liquidation. 
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 
 

(1)  Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

(i) Pensions 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred 

inflows of resources related to pensions and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net 

position of the State-Boston Retirement System (ñSBRSò) and the additions to/deductions from the 

Commission's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they were reported by 

the SBRS.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are 

recognized when due and payable in accordance with benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair 

value. 

 (j) Post-Employment Benefits 

GASB 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other 

than Pensions requires governments to account for other postemployment benefits (ñOPEBò) on the 

accrual basis, rather than pay as you go (cash basis).  Furthermore, the determination of the OPEB 

liability is dependent upon the type of plan in which the employer participates.  Effective January 15, 

2015, the Commission established an independent entity titled the Boston Water and Sewer Other 

Postemployment Benefits (ñOPEBò) Trust, to manage OPEB benefits for the Commission and assess 

the annual required contribution (ñARCò).  To the extent the Commission does not pay the entire 

ARC or contractual obligation, they will have an OPEB related liability. 

 (k) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 

in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions about future 

events.  These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Management evaluates the 

estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors that 

management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Adjustments to estimates and 

assumptions are made as facts and circumstances require.  As future events and their effects cannot be 

determined with certainty, actual results may differ from the estimates used in preparing the 

accompanying financial statements.  Significant estimates and assumptions are required as part of 

determining the value of inventory and accounts receivable, estimating depreciation, insurance 

reserves, and the net pension liability. 

 (l) Contributions in Aid of Construction 

Contributions in aid of construction (ñCIACò) are additions and/or upgrades to infrastructure made by 

customers or developers that have been assigned to the Commission upon completion of the 

applicable project.  Historically, CIAC has not been material to the financial statements and the 

contribution is not recorded.  The Commission accepts the responsibility for the ongoing maintenance 

of CIAC. 
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 
 

(1) Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

(m) Capital contributions 

Capital contributions consist of special grants or loan subsidies received from the Massachusetts 

Water Resource Authority (ñMWRAò) or Massachusetts Clean Water Trust (ñMCWTò) along with 

funds received from property owners and developers to assist the Commission in development of 

their infrastructure. 

 (n) New Government Accounting Pronouncements  

GASB Statement 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than 

Pensions is effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2017.  This Statement replaces Statement 

45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than 

Pension Plans and Statement 57, OPEB Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-

Employer Plans.  The objective of Statement 75 is to improve accounting and financial reporting by 

state and local governments for postemployment benefits other than pensions (ñOPEBò).  It also 

requires additional information by state and local governmental employers about financial support for 

OPEB that is provided by other entities.  The Statement establishes standards for recognizing and 

measuring liabilities, deferred outflows and inflows of resources, and expense/expenditures.  GASB 

75 also identifies the assumptions and methods that are required to be used to project benefit 

payments, discount projected benefit payments to their actuarial present value and attribute that 

present value to periods of employee service for defined benefit OPEB.  As discussed in Note 10, 

management is anticipating a restatement of balances during the upcoming fiscal year to include the 

effect of this Statement. 
 
GASB Statement 82, Pension Issues-An Amendment of GASB Statements No. 67, No. 68, and No. 73, 

effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2016 except in certain circumstances, for the disclosure 

of payroll related assumptions which is effective on or after June 15, 2017.  This Statement addresses 

issues regarding (1) the presentation of payroll-related measures in required supplementary 

information, (2) the selection of assumptions and the treatment of deviations from the guidance in an 

Actuarial Standard of Practice for financial reporting purposes, and (3) the classification of payments 

made by employers to satisfy employee (plan member) contribution requirements.  Management has 

not completed its review of the requirements of this standard and its applicability. 
 
GASB Statement 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations (AROs) is effective for periods beginning 

after June 15, 2018.  An ARO is a legally enforceable liability associated with the retirement of a 

tangible capital asset.  This Statement establishes criteria for determining the timing and pattern of 

recognition of a liability and a corresponding deferred outflow of resources for AROs and requires 

that recognition occur when the liability is both incurred and reasonably estimable.  Management has 

not completed its review of the requirements of this standard and its applicability. 
 
GASB Statement 85, Omnibus 2017 is effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2017.  The 

objective of this Statement is to address practice issues that have been identified during 

implementation and application of certain GASB Statements.  This Statement addresses a variety of 

topics including issues related to blending component units, goodwill, fair value measurement and 

application, and postemployment benefits (pensions and other postemployment benefits).  

Management has not completed its review of the requirements of this standard and its applicability. 
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 

(1) Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued 

(n) New Government Accounting Pronouncements ï Continued 

GASB Statement 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues is effective for reporting periods beginning 

after June 15, 2017.  The primary objective of this Statement is to improve consistency in accounting 

and financial reporting for in-substance defeasance of debt by providing guidance for transactions in 

which cash and other monetary assets acquired with only existing resourcesðresources other than the 

proceeds of refunding debtðare placed in an irrevocable trust for the sole purpose of extinguishing 

debt.  This Statement also improves accounting and financial reporting for prepaid insurance on debt 

that is extinguished and disclosures in the financial statements for debt that is defeased in substance. 

Management has not completed its review of the requirements of this standard. 

GASB Statement 87, Leases is effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2019.  

Implementation of this standard will require lessees to recognize on their statement of net position the 

rights and obligations resulting from leases categorized as operating leases as assets, liabilities, or 

deferred inflows / outflows of resources.  It provides for an election on leases with terms of less than 

twelve months to be excluded from this Standard.  Management is in the process of evaluating this 

standard and has not yet determined its impact on the financial statements. 

GASB Statement 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, Including Direct Borrowings and Direct 

Placements is effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2018.  The primary objective of this 

Statement is to improve the information that is disclosed in notes to government financial statements 

related to debt, including direct borrowings and direct placements.  It also clarifies which liabilities 

governments should include when disclosing information related to debt.  Management is in the 

process of evaluating this standard and has not yet determined its impact on the financial statements. 

(2) Deferred Outflows of Resources 

 

Deferred outflows of resources represent the consumption of net assets by the Commission that are 

applicable to future reporting periods.  Deferred outflows of resources have a positive effect on net 

position, like assets.  In accordance with GASB 62, pension obligations will be recovered through 

future rates or matched against credits related to the specific costs in the future. 

 

The following is a summary of deferred outflow of resources as of December 31: 

2017 2016

Costs to be recovered through future revenues:
          Pension obligation $ 25,976,537 26,503,599
Differences between projected and actual earnings
          on pension plan investments ð    4,101,069
Changes in assumptions 4,308,318 ð    
Contributions made after the plan measurement date 1,500,000 3,128,357
Deferred loss on defeasance 15,450,244 16,728,915

          Total $ 47,235,099 50,461,940
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       BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 

(3) Deferred Inflows of Resources 

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 62 ("GASB 62"), certain 

revenues and expenditures that would otherwise be included in the statement of revenues and expenses, 

may be applied to future operations. These items are identified on the statement of revenues and expenses 

as "excess revenues used to fund reserves and other deferrals" and are included on the statement of net 

position in deferred credits and reserves and are as follows for the years ended December 31: 

 

2017 2016

Contributions to reserves $ 945,000    2,313,000   
Principal payments on long-term debt 29,449,272    28,549,800   
Interest paid from escrow funds (2,871)   368,257   
Capital expenditures 14,653,483    12,565,520   
Depreciation and amortization (12,691,449)   (13,878,675)  
Investment income on project and escrow funds 449,248    (1,539,021)  
Other (578,245)   8,919,172   

$ 32,224,438    37,298,053   

 

The components of deferred credits and reserves for the years ended December 31 have been designated as 

follows: 

2017 2016

Debt service $ 161,515,873 160,917,814
Capital improvements 542,498,037 507,960,428
Pension related (1,211,039)       188,769
Differences between expected and actual experience 3,353,400 3,912,300
Differences between projected and actual earnings
     on pension plan investments 2,165,957 ð    
Working capital (4,784,431)       (1,784,431)       
Self-insurance 2,240,000 2,240,000

705,777,797 673,434,880

Reduction of future Rates 570,607 689,086

          Total $ 706,348,404 674,123,966
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        BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 

(4) Capital Assets 

The cost and activity of water and sewerage capital assets in service and related accumulated depreciation at 

December 31, and is as follows: 

 

Balance at Balance at

December 31, December 31,

2016 Additions Disposals Reclassifications 2017

Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land $ 5,884,243   ð  ð  ð  5,884,243  

Construction in progress 115,904,646   59,545,141 ð  (63,468,174)          111,981,613  

Total capital assets,

not being depreciated 121,788,889   59,545,141 ð  (63,468,174)          117,865,856  

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements 67,977,686   79,869   ð  55,116   68,112,671  

Machinery and equipment 27,816,037   3,057,985 ð  ð  30,874,022  

Infrastructure 1,475,121,050   ð  ð  63,413,058   1,538,534,108  

Total capital assets,

being depreciated 1,570,914,773   3,137,854   ð  63,468,174   1,637,520,801  

Less: accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings and improvements 28,939,780   1,622,844   ð  ð  30,562,624  

Machinery and equipment 18,179,637   2,795,399 ð  ð  20,975,036  

Infrastructure 308,232,982   18,169,024   ð  ð  326,402,006  

Total accumulated

depreciation 355,352,399   22,587,267   ð  ð  377,939,666  

Total capital assets being

depreciated, net 1,215,562,374   (19,449,413)         ð  63,468,174   1,259,581,135  

Capital assets, net $ 1,337,351,263   40,095,728   ð  ð  1,377,446,991  
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 

(4) Capital Assets ï Continued 

 

 

Balance at Balance at

December 31, December 31,

2015 Additions Disposals Reclassifications 2016

Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land $ 5,884,243   ð  ð  ð  5,884,243  

Construction in progress 161,098,214   51,889,084 ð  (97,082,652)        115,904,646  

Total capital assets,

not being depreciated 166,982,457   51,889,084 ð  (97,082,652)        121,788,889  

Capital assets, being depreciated:

Buildings and improvements 67,941,817   35,869   ð  ð  67,977,686  

Machinery and equipment 37,499,509   4,235,579 (14,352,045)   432,994   27,816,037  

Infrastructure 1,378,454,927   16,465   ð  96,649,658   1,475,121,050  

Total capital assets,

being depreciated 1,483,896,253   4,287,913   (14,352,045)   97,082,652   1,570,914,773  

Less: accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings and improvements 27,310,936   1,628,844   ð  ð  28,939,780  

Machinery and equipment 30,114,729   2,416,953 (14,352,045)   ð  18,179,637  

Infrastructure 291,275,810   16,957,172   ð  ð  308,232,982  

Total accumulated

depreciation 348,701,475   21,002,969   (14,352,045)   ð  355,352,399  

Total capital assets being

depreciated, net 1,135,194,778   (16,715,056)   ð  97,082,652   1,215,562,374  

Capital assets, net $ 1,302,177,235   35,174,028   ð  ð  1,337,351,263  
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BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 
 

(5) Long-Term Obligations 

(a) Revenue Bonds 

 The Commission issues revenue bonds to support various projects.  The following is a summary of 

revenue bond activity for the year ended December 31, (amounts in thousands). 

 

 Balance at Balance at Amounts

December 31, December 31, due within

Description 2016 Additions Reductions 2017 one year

Revenue bonds:

1993 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 2.2% to 5.25%

issued September 17, 1993, maturing 1993 to 2019 $ 21,150  ð  7,790  13,360  8,205  

1994 Series A, bearing a variable interest rate based

on the daily Municipal Market Data scal

issued August 20, 1994, maturing 1995 to 2024 18,600  ð  1,800  16,800  2,000  

2009 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued March 26, 2009, maturing 2010 to 2028 13,030  ð  3,565  9,465  4,380  

2009 Series B, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued March 26, 2009, maturing 2009 to 2021 24,890  ð  4,415  20,475  4,635  

2010 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 2.5% to 5.0%

issued January 26, 2010, maturing 2010 to 2031 6,270  ð  705  5,565  ð  

2012 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued June 6, 2012, maturing 2015 to 2037 104,960  ð  2,720  102,240  2,795  

2014 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued July 22, 2014, maturing 2017 to 2044 100,000  ð  100  99,900  100  

2015 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued August 05, 2015, maturing 2023 to 2028 72,760  ð  ð  72,760  ð  

2016 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued September 13, 2016, maturing 2020 to 2031 60,155  ð  ð  60,155  ð  

2016 Series B, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued September 13, 2016, maturing 2017 to 2046 84,960  ð  500  84,460  500  

506,775  ð  21,595  485,180  22,615  

Less unamortized issue premiums/discounts 45,851  ð  4,908  40,943  4,898  

Net revenue bonds $ 552,626  ð  26,503  526,123  27,513  
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                                   BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 

(5) Long-Term Obligations - Continued 

(a) Revenue Bonds ï Continued 

 

 Balance at Balance at Amounts

December 31, December 31, due within

Description 2015 Additions Reductions 2016 one year

Revenue bonds:

1993 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 2.2% to 5.25%

issued September 17, 1993, maturing 1993 to 2019 $ 28,555  ð  7,405  21,150  7,790  

1994 Series A, bearing a variable interest rate based

on the daily Municipal Market Data scale

issued August 20, 1994, maturing 1995 to 2024 20,300  ð  1,700  18,600  1,800  

2009 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued March 26, 2009, maturing 2010 to 2028 33,825  ð  20,795  13,030  3,565  

2009 Series B, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued March 26, 2009, maturing 2009 to 2021 29,090  ð  4,200  24,890  4,415  

2010 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 2.5% to 5.0%

issued January 26, 2010, maturing 2010 to 2031 55,385  ð  49,115  6,270  705  

2012 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued June 6, 2012, maturing 2015 to 2037 107,545  ð  2,585  104,960  2,720  

2014 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued July 22, 2014, maturing 2017 to 2044 100,000  ð  ð  100,000  100  

2015 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued August 05, 2015, maturing 2023 to 2028 72,760  ð  ð  72,760  ð  

2016 Series A, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued September 13, 2016, maturing 2020 to 2031 ð  60,155  ð  60,155  ð  

2016 Series B, bearing interest ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%

issued September 13, 2016, maturing 2017 to 2046 ð  84,960  ð  84,960  500  

447,460  145,115  85,800  506,775  21,595  

Less unamortized issue premiums/discounts 31,145  21,378  6,672  45,851  4,908  

Net revenue bonds $ 478,605  166,493  92,472  552,626  26,503  
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(5) Long-Term Obligations - Continued 

(a) Revenue Bonds - Continued 

Debt principal and interest maturities for future years as of December 31, 2017 are as follows 

(amounts in thousands): 

Revenue bonds

Principal Interest

2018 $ 22,615   20,868   
2019 23,730   19,713   
2020 23,210   18,516   
2021 24,290   17,380   
2022 23,505   16,216   
2023-2027 125,305   62,331   
2028-2032 94,175   36,378   
2033-2037 70,480   20,443   
2038-2042 48,825   9,204   
2043-2046 29,045   1,817   

$ 485,180   222,866   

 

Amortization expense for losses on bond refunding and amortization of bond issuance premiums for 

the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 totaled $(3,204,055) and $(586,065), respectively. 

The Commission is required to maintain a Senior Debt Service Reserve Fund of an amount at least 

equal to the sum of the maximum amount of principal, or sinking fund payments, and interest due in 

the current or immediately succeeding year on the outstanding senior bonds issued as ñfixed rate 

bonds", net of any accrued interest from the sale of any such bonds.  As of December 31, 2017, and 

2016, approximately $44.3 million and $44.2 million, respectively, has been deposited into the Senior 

Debt Service Reserve Account.  This account is included with restricted cash and investments on the 

Statements of Net Position. 

During 2016, the Commission completed the issuance of $145,115,000 General Revenue and 

Refunding Bonds, 2016 Series A and 2016 Series B (the ñBondsò).  The net proceeds of 

$166,036,408 (after issuance costs of $456,543, plus premium of $21,377,951) were used to refund 

$17,240,000 and $48,565,000 of the remaining $33,825,000 and $55,385,000 outstanding on the 

2009 and 2010 Series A bonds (the ñdefeased bondsò) respectively and to provide permanent 

financing for certain capital improvements previously financed by outstanding commercial paper; 

provide funding for other capital improvements; provide for a deposit to the Senior Debt Service 

Reserve Fund; and to pay the costs associated with the issuance of the Bonds.  The Bonds have 

principal payable annually beginning November 1, 2017, through and including November 1, 2046.  

The refunding reduced the Commissionôs total debt service by approximately $11.1 million and 

resulted in an economic gain (the difference between the present value of the debt service on the old 

and new bonds) of approximately $9.0 million. 
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(5) Long-Term Obligations - Continued 

(b) Prior Year Debt Refunding (Defeasements) 

In the aggregate, $288,290,000 and $302,545,000 remains outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 

2016, respectively, on bond issues that were defeased ñin-substanceò in prior years. 

 (c) Restricted Cash and Investments 

The Commission has established both trusteed and nontrusteed funds with investments, principally 

short-term securities, which are restricted for payment of specified liabilities, capital projects, or other 

costs of operations.  The components of the trusteed and nontrusteed investments at December 31, are 

as follows: 

2017 2016

Trusteed:
U.S. Government obligations $ 1,987,040  27,992,610  
U.S. Government agency obligations 122,200,976  97,089,915  
Money market 53,841,005  57,008,738  
Repurchase agreements 8,416,250  8,416,250  

186,445,271  190,507,513  

Nontrusteed:
U.S. Government obligations 324,334  100,067  
U.S. Government agency obligations 1,462,470  1,479,315  
Cash 34,153,256  53,872,661  
Money market 1,463,366  2,140,881  
Open-ended mutual funds 21,714,369  12,319,270  

59,117,795  69,912,194  

Restricted cash and investments 245,563,066  260,419,707  

Less nontrusteed cash (34,153,256) (53,872,661) 

Trusteed and nontrusteed investments $ 211,409,810  206,547,046  

 

(d) Long-Term Notes Payable 

The Commission has entered into various interest-free loan agreements with Massachusetts Water 

Resource Authority (the "MWRA").  Under these agreements, the Commission is required to repay 

these loans in annual installments as part of the MWRAôs Infiltration/Inflow Local Financial 

Assistance Program (I/I), Local Water Infrastructure Rehabilitation Program (WIR), Pipeline 

Assistance Program (PAP) and System Assistance Program (SAP).  These programs are designed to 

assist service area communities with sewer system rehabilitation.  
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(5) Long-Term Obligations - Continued 

(d) Long-Term Notes Payable - Continued 

During 1996 and 1997, the Commission executed loan agreements with the Massachusetts Clean 

Water Trust (ñMCWTò) to finance and refinance a portion of the Commissionôs water pollution 

abatement projects.  As part of the agreement, MCWT agreed to subsidize a portion of the annual 

loan repayments, which the Commission records as a capital grant.  As of December 31, 2017, the 

Commission does not anticipate any future MCWT payments will be recognized as capital grants.  

The following is a summary of long-term note activities with MWRA and MCWT for the years ended 

December 31: 

Balance at Balance at Amounts

December 31, December 31, due within

Description 2016 Additions Reductions 2017 one year

MWRA I/I Program Phase VI,

interest free, due

August 15, 2017 $ 460,339 ð 460,339 ð ð 

MWRA I/I Program Phase VII,

interest free, due

November 15, 2017 1,246,520 ð 1,246,520 ð ð 

MWRA I/I Program Phase VIII,

interest free, due

May 15, 2022 1,375,493 1,030,108 1,037,749 1,367,852 543,766 

MWRA I/I Program Phase IX,

interest free, due

May 15, 2022 ð 1,773,302 ð 1,773,302 354,660 

MWRA S.A.P. Program,

interest free, due

November 15, 2027 20,230,096 3,916,914 2,712,781 21,434,229 3,104,471 

MWRA P.A.P. Program,

interest free, due

August 15, 2020 5,289,099 ð 1,847,140 3,441,959 1,690,840 

MWPAT Pool III, subsidized
interest, due
February 1, 2017 784,982 ð 784,982 ð ð 

Total long-term
notes $ 29,386,529 6,720,324 8,089,511 28,017,342 5,693,737 

 

Debt principal for future years as of December 31, 2017 are as follows (amounts in thousands): 

2018 $ 5,694   
2019 4,767   
2020 4,315   
2021 3,665   
2022 3,264   
2023-2027 6,312   

$ 28,017   
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(5) Long-Term Obligations - Continued 

 (d) Long-Term Notes Payable ï Continued 

Balance at Balance at Amounts

December 31, December 31, due within

Description 2015 Additions Reductions 2016 one year

MWRA I/I Program Phase VI,

interest free, due

August 15, 2017 $ 1,400,497 ð 940,158 460,339 460,339 

MWRA I/I Program Phase VII,

interest free, due

November 15, 2017 2,493,040 ð 1,246,520 1,246,520 1,246,520 

MWRA I/I Program Phase VIII,

interest free, due

August 15, 2018 2,413,242 ð 1,037,749 1,375,493 1,037,749 

MWRA S.A.P. Program,

interest free, due

August 15, 2026 18,679,936 3,875,400 2,325,240 20,230,096 2,712,780 

MWRA P.A.P. Program,

interest free, due

August 15, 2020 7,751,953 ð 2,462,854 5,289,099 1,847,140 

MWPAT Pool III, subsidized

interest, due

February 1, 2017 1,551,216 ð 766,234 784,982 784,982 

Total long-term

notes $ 34,289,884 3,875,400 8,778,755 29,386,529 8,089,510 

 

(6) Short -Term Obligations 

 The Commission issues commercial paper notes for financing capital expenditures.  The following 

represents the Commissionôs commercial paper notes outstanding as of December 31: 

December 31, December 31,

Description 2016 Additions Reductions 2017

Commercial paper notes,

Bank of America program

   due September 25, 2017

   through January 3, 2018 $ ð  25,000,000   ð  25,000,000  

Total long-term

notes $ ð  25,000,000   ð  25,000,000  

 
Subsequent to year-end, the 2017 issuance of commercial paper was renewed and subsequently paid off 

with the proceeds from the 2018 Series A General Revenue Bond (see Note 16). 

 



Financial Section 

 

44 

BOSTON WATER AND SEWER COMMISSION  

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2017 and 2016 

 

(6) Short -Term Obligations ï Continued 

 Balance at Balance at

December 31, December 31,

Description 2015 Additions Reductions 2016

Commercial paper notes,

Bank of America program

   due September 02, 2015

   through January 1, 2016 $ 25,000,000   ð  25,000,000   ð  

Bank of America program

   due March 02, 2016

   through September 15, 2016 ð  25,000,000   25,000,000   ð  

Total long-term
notes $ 25,000,000   25,000,000   50,000,000   ð  

 

(7) Massachusetts Water Resources Authority 

The Commission obtains water supply and sewer treatment services from MWRA and is assessed a portion 

of the MWRA's actual operating and capital expenses.  The assessment is based on the MWRAôs fiscal year 

(July 1 to June 30), and payments are due to MWRA in ten equal installments excluding the months of 

January and July.  Details of the MWRA assessments included in the statement of revenue and expenses at 

December 31, are as follows: 

2017 2016

Assessments based on:
Water usage $ 84,338,533    81,488,459   
Wastewater usage 134,123,333    130,986,618   

Total $ 218,461,866    212,475,077   

 

 

(8) Transactions with the City of Boston 

Departments of the City of Boston were billed approximately $4.0 million and $4.3 million during 2017 and 

2016, respectively, based on actual consumption. 

The City provides services to the Commission, including paving and facilities rental.  Operating costs billed 

to the Commission by the City were approximately $1,351,000 and $1,224,000 during the years ended 

December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and capital costs billed by the City were approximately 

$1,400,000 and $2,600,000 during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. 
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(9) Pension Benefits  

(a) Description of the State-Boston Retirement System Plan 

The Commission contributes to the State-Boston Retirement System (ñSBRSò), a cost-sharing, multi-

employer qualified defined benefit public employee retirement system established under Chapter 32 

of the MGL and a member of the Massachusetts Contributory Retirement System (the "System").  

Under a cost-sharing plan, pension obligations for employees of all employers are pooled and plan 

assets are available to pay the benefits of the employees of any participating employer providing 

pension benefits through the plan, regardless of the status of the employersô payment of its pension 

obligation to the plan.  The System provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan 

members and beneficiaries.  Chapter 32 of the MGL assigns authority to establish and amend benefit 

provisions of the plan. 

The System issues a publicly available financial report, which can be obtained through the 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission 

(PERAC), 5 Middlesex Avenue, Suite 304, Somerville, Massachusetts 02145. 

 (b) Benefit Provisions 

Participation in the System is mandatory for all permanent, full time, and certain part-time employees 

immediately upon the commencement of employment.  Participants who resign from employment, or 

are receiving workersô compensation benefits, and who are not eligible to receive a retirement 

allowance are entitled to request a refund of their total contributions.  In addition, those participants 

that resign voluntarily with less than ten years of service are entitled to receive 3% per year interest; 

all others receive interest which has accrued on their cumulative deductions at the regular interest rate 

(0.1% at December 31, 2017 and 2016). 

Employees with ten or more years of service having attained age 55 are entitled to pension benefits; 

an early retirement is allowed upon completion of twenty years of service.  The System provides for 

retirement allowance benefits up to a maximum of 80% of a participantôs highest consecutive three-

year average annual rate of regular compensation (highest consecutive five-year average for those 

members who join the System on or after April 2, 2012).  Benefit payments are based upon a 

participantôs age, length of creditable service, level of compensation, and group classification.  

Participants become vested after ten years of creditable service.  Effective July 1, 1998 Chapter 32 of 

the MGL assigns authority to establish and amend benefits provisions and grant cost-of-living 

increases for the plan to the SBRS. 

If a member in service dies due to causes unrelated to his or her job, the surviving spouse and/or 

surviving dependent children may receive benefits based on the length of service, contributions and 

age, either in a lump sum or in the form of an annuity.  In the event there are no spouse and/or 

dependent children named, other beneficiaries may be entitled to a lump sum distribution.  

Participants who become permanently and totally disabled from further duty may be eligible to 

receive accident or ordinary disability retirement benefits. 
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(9) Pension Benefits - Continued 

(b) Benefit Provisions - Continued 

Accident disability is provided to members with incapacitation resulting from a work-related injury or 

hazard.  Generally, annual pension benefits are provided based on 72% of the annual rate of regular 

compensation.  Ordinary disability is available to any member whose permanent incapacitation is not 

work related and has completed ten years of creditable service.  Such benefits are provided as if the 

member had attained the age of 55 (or actual age if over 55) based on the amount of creditable service 

earned.  Limits are placed on how much an employee receiving disability benefits can earn from other 

sources while collecting a disability retirement pension. 

(c) Contributions 

Plan members are required to contribute to the SBRS at rates ranging from 5% to 9% of annual 

covered compensation.  The Commission is required to pay into the SBRS its share of the remaining 

system wide actuarially determined contribution accepted by PERAC plus administration costs, 

which are apportioned among the employers based on active covered payroll.  The contributions of 

plan members and the Commission are governed by Chapter 32 of the MGL.  The Commissionôs 

contributions to the plan for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 amounted to 

$4,324,672, $11,083,375, and $7,955,018, respectively, representing its annual required contribution 

for each year along with additional funds to reduce the unfunded liability.  Employee contributions, 

based on actuarially determined amounts, aggregated $4,667,585 and $4,918,577, or 13.4% and 

14.7% of covered payroll in 2017 and 2016, respectively.  As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the 

Commission has a payable to SBRS of $538,358 and $0, respectively, for legally required 

contributions.     

The Commission's funding policies have been established by Chapter 32 of the MGL.  The 

Legislature has the authority to amend these polices.  The annuity portion of the Commission's 

retirement allowance is funded by employees, who contribute a percentage of their regular 

compensation.  Costs of administering the plan are funded out of plan assets.  Member contributions 

vary depending on their date of membership: 

 

              Hire Date                                   Percentage of Compensation 

              Prior to 1975                 5% of regular compensation 

              1975-1983                  7% of regular compensation 

              1984 to 6/30/1996                 8% of regular compensation 

              7/1/1996 to present                 9% of regular compensation  
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(9) Pension Benefits - Continued 

(d) Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows 

of Resources 

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Commission reported a liability of $26 million and $27 million, 

respectively, for its proportionate share of the net pension liability related to its participation in SBRS.  

The net pension liability as of December 31, 2017, the reporting date, was measured as of December 

31, 2017, the measurement date, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension 

liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2016 rolled forward to December 

31, 2017. The net pension liability as of December 31, 2016, the reporting date, was measured as of 

December 31, 2016, the measurement date, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net 

pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2016 rolled forward to 

December 31, 2016.  At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Commissionôs proportion was 4.0% and 

4.2%, respectively. 

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Commission recognized pension income of 

$0.5 million and pension expense of $12.4 million, respectively.  The Commission follows the 

accounting standards set forth in GASB 62, and therefore provides for recovery of these pension 

liability costs as a deferred outflow of resources to be collected over the life of the liability to which it 

relates.  At December 31, 2017 and 2018, the Commission reported deferred outflows of resources 

and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions as follows: 

2017 2016

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Net difference between projected and actual earnings

on pension plan investments $ -                 $ 4,101,066
Changes in assumptions 4,308,318 -                 

Total $ 4,308,318   $ 4,101,066  

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 3,353,400 $ 3,912,300
Net difference between projected and actual earnings

on pension plan investments 2,165,957 -                 

Total $ 5,519,357   $ 3,912,300  

 

Contributions of $1,500,000 and $3,128,357 are reported as deferred outflows of resources related to 

pensions resulting from contributions in calendar years 2017 and 2016, respectively, after the 

measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for the years 

ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 
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(9) Pension Benefits ï Continued 

(d) Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows 

of Resources - Continued 

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 

pensions will be recognized as increases (decreases) in pension expense as follows: 

Years Ended  

       June 30, 

 2017 $353,783 

2018 353,783 

2019 (1,509,839) 

2020 (1,137,388) 

 2021 56,574 

 2022 56,574 

2023 615,474 

Total $(1,211,039) 

 

(e) Actuarial Assumptions 

The total pension liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all 

periods included in the measurement: 

  Inflation                            3.5% for 2016, 4.0% thereafter  

Salary increases     4.0% for 2016, 4.5% thereafter 

  Investment rate of return   7.25% for 2017, 7.5% for 2016 

  Post-retirement cost of living adjustment  3% of first $13,000 

 

For 2017, mortality rates were based on pre-retirement of RP-2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table 

projected generationally using Scale MP-2017 set forward 1 year for females.  For 2016, mortality 

rates were based on pre-retirement of RP-2000 Employees Mortality Table projected generationally 

using Scale BB2D from 2009 and post-retirement of Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table projected 

generationally using Scale BB2D from 2009.  For disabled retirees, this table is set from 2015. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the valuations involve estimates of the reported amounts and 

assumptions about probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Amounts determined 

regarding the net pension liability are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with 

past expectations and new projections are made. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-

block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each 

major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by 

weighting the expected future rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage. 
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(9) Pension Benefits - Continued 

(e) Actuarial Assumptions 

Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension 

planôs target asset allocation as of December 31, 2017 are summarized in the following table: 

                                                                                                   Long-Term Expected 

             Asset Class                                       Target Allocation               Real Rate of Return 

 Domestic equity  23.0% 6.15% 

 International developed markets equity 16.0% 7.11% 

 Emerging markets equity  8.0% 9.41% 

 Core fixed income 21.0% 1.68% 

 High-yield fixed income 15.0% 4.13% 

 Hedge fund, GTAA, Risk parity 7.0% 3.94% 

 Private equity 5.0%                 10.28% 

 Real estate  5.0%           4.90% 

                  100.0%  

Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension 

planôs target asset allocation as of December 31, 2016 are summarized in the following table: 

                                                                                                                      Long-Term Expected 

      Asset Class                         Target Allocation           Real Rate of Return 

 Domestic equity  25.0% 6.49% 

 International developed markets equity 19.0% 7.16% 

 International emerging markets equity  8.0% 9.46% 

 Core fixed income 11.0% 1.68% 

 High-yield fixed income 13.0% 4.76% 

 Real estate 7.0% 3.60% 

 Hedge fund, GTAA, Risk parity 7.0% 11.04% 

 Private equity 10.0%            4.37% 

                   100.0%  

 (f) Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25% for 2017 and 7.50% for 2016.  

The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member 

contributions will be made at the current contribution rates and employer contributions will be made 

at the actuarially determined contractually required rates.  Based on these assumptions, the net 

position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan 

members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied 

to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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(9) Pension Benefits - Continued 

 (f) Discount Rate 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to changes in the Discount Rate 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net pension liability, calculated using the discount 

rate of 7.25% and 7.50% for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, as well as 

what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-

percentage-point lower or one-percentage-point higher than the current rate: 

2017

Current Discount

1.00% Decrease Rate 1.00% Increase

(6.25%) (7.25%) (8.25%)

$42,610,085 $25,976,538 $11,864,249

2016

1.00% Decrease Rate 1.00% Increase

(6.5%) (7.5%) (8.5%)

$41,708,760 $26,503,599 $13,572,498

 

(10) Post-Employment Benefits other than Pensions (OPEB) 

Plan Description 

The Commission participates in the City of Bostonôs (the ñCityò) health insurance program, which is 

administered by the City as an agent multiple-employer defined benefit other postemployments benefits 

plan (ñOPEB planò).  Participation in the Cityôs plan was made via an agreement between the City and the 

Commission and may be amended with the agreement of both parties.  The City provides postemployment 

healthcare and life insurance benefits, in accordance with state statute and City ordinance, to participating 

retirees and their beneficiaries.  The OPEB plan is administered by the City and does not issue a stand-alone 

financial report. 

Medical and prescription drug benefits are provided to all eligible retirees not enrolled in Medicare through 

a variety of plans offered by Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Harvard Pilgrim HealthCare, Tufts, 

and Neighborhood Health Plan.  Medical and prescription drug benefits are provided to retirees enrolled in 

Medicare through supplemental and Medicare Advantage plans offered by Blue Cross Blue Shield of 

Massachusetts, Tufts and Harvard Pilgrim HealthCare.  The Commission also pays 50% of the retiree life 

insurance premium and reimburses retirees 50% of their Medicare Part B premium.  Retirees, who became 

members of SBRS before April 2, 2012, with at least 10 years of creditable service are eligible at age 55; 

retirees with 20 years of creditable service are eligible at any age.  Retirees, who became members of SBRS 

on or after April 2, 2012, with at least 10 years of creditable service, are eligible at age 60.  Retirees on 

accidental disability retirement are eligible at any age while ordinary disability retirement requires 10 years 

of creditable service.  The surviving spouse is eligible to receive both pre- and post-retirement death 

benefits for life, as well as medical and prescription drug coverage. 
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(10) Postemployment Benefits other than Pensions (OPEB) - Continued 

Plan Description - Continued 

In 2016 the Commissionôs Board of Commissioners elected, approved and adopted the Boston Water and 

Sewer Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) Trust (the ñTrustò), an irrevocable, tax-exempt trust for the 

purpose of funding the Commissionôs OPEB obligations and not for the purpose of providing benefits.  The 

Trust was established to independently hold and administer Commission assets appropriated to pay benefits 

and costs associated with the OPEB plan along with reducing the unfunded actuarial liability related to 

postemployment benefits other than pensions.  In accordance with provisions of GASB 45, the creation of 

the Trust allowed for the Commissionôs OPEB obligation recorded in previous years to be reduced to zero. 

Funding Policy 

The Commission funds the plan on a partially funded basis and shares the cost of health insurance with plan 

members.  Contribution rates are regulated by the collective bargaining agreements.  Plan members 

contribute 11.0% to 28.5% of the monthly premium cost, depending on the plan in which they are enrolled. 

Participating in the City of Boston plan requires funding the actuarially determined annual required 

contribution ("ARC").  The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected 

to cover normal costs each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a 

period not to exceed thirty years.  The Commissionôs contribution to the plan for the years ended December 

31, 2017 and 2016 were $3,000,000 and $2,610,336, respectively, which represents 100% of the ARC.  The 

Commission also elected to contribute an additional $0.9 million and $4.5 million to the Trust for the years 

ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

 

New Accounting Guidance Effective for Year-Ended 2018 

As discussed in Note 1, GASB 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other 

Than Pensions is effective for the year ended 2018 and is applicable for employees participating in an agent 

multiple-employer plan such as the City of Boston's.  The Commission will be required to restate beginning 

net position as of January 1, 2017 to recognize the employerôs proportionate share of the planôs net other 

postemployment benefit (ñOPEBò) obligation.  OPEB expense reported in the Commissionôs financial 

statements will reflect the change in the net OPEB liability for the fiscal year. 

(11) Deposit and Investment Risks 

(a) Custodial Credit Risk 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the Commissionôs deposits may not 

be returned.  Certain of the Commission's deposits are fully insured by FDIC insurance or 

collateralized with securities held by the Commission or the Commissionôs agent in the 

Commissionôs name.  The Commission does not have a formal policy for managing custodial credit 

risk of deposits.  As of December 31, 2017, and 2016, the cash balances of uninsured and 

uncollateralized deposits totaled $55,304,371 and $59,149,618, respectively.  All the Commissionôs 

investments are held by a third-party in the name of the Commission. 
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(11) Deposit and Investment Risks - Continued 

(b) Investment Policy 

Investment of Commission funds is governed by federal and state laws and is restricted to permitted 

investments as defined by the Commissionôs General Revenue Bond Resolution and Supplemental 

Resolutions.  Revenues generated from the investment of Commission funds reduce the amount the 

Commission must charge to its customers, while any investment losses would negatively affect the 

Commissionôs general rates and charges.  Consequently, the Commission adheres to an investment 

policy that will maintain a fully invested, diversified portfolio with the objective of achieving the 

highest yield that is attainable in conjunction with a very low risk of loss of capital.  The basic criteria 

that will be used in making investment decisions includes the evaluation of risk/reward tradeoffs, 

historical price spreads between different securities, the slope of the yield curve and the anticipated 

cash flows of the different investment accounts of the Commission. 

Current permitted investments under the General Revenue Bond Resolution include: 

1. Any bond or other obligation to which principal and interest are unconditionally guaranteed by 

the United States of America. 

2. Any bond or other obligation of any state, agency or local government unit of any state which 

are: 

A. Noncallable. 

B. Fully collateralized by funds consisting of cash, bonds or obligations of one of the above. 

3. Public Housing bonds secured by the United States of America, certain notes issued by public 

agencies or municipalities fully secured by the United States of America or obligations issued 

by State or public agencies or municipalities carrying the highest bond rating. 

4. Obligations of any state to which the full faith and credit of the state is pledged and are within 

the two highest bond ratings. 

5. Prime Commercial Paper rated A ï 1 or P ï 1. 

6. Shares of a money market funds that are open ended and rated A or better, or money market 

funds of banks meeting specific criteria. 

7. Certificates of Deposit issued by FDIC banks, which are fully secured by obligations described 

in 1 or 2 above. 

8. Repurchase Agreements fully collateralized by obligations described in 1 or 2 above. 

9. Futures contracts traded on an exchange for investments described in 1, 2, 3, and 4 above. 

A single investment in commercial paper cannot be more than $15 million and can only be purchased 

once. Further, all investments of the Commission are held in the Commissionôs name by a third-party. 
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(11) Deposit and Investment Risks ï Continued 

(c) Interest Rate Risk 

The Commissionôs guidelines do not specifically address limits on maturities as a means of managing 
its exposure to fair value losses arising from changing interest rates.  The following is a listing of the 
Commissionôs fixed income investments and related maturity schedule (in years) as of December 31: 

2017
Less More

Investment type Fair value than 1 1 ï 5 6 ï 10 than 10

U.S. Government obligations $ 2,311,374 2,311,374 ð ð ð 
U.S. Government agencies 123,663,446 31,672,681 26,008,153 28,956,455 37,026,157 
Guaranteed investment contract 8,416,250 ð ð 8,416,250 ð 
Money market 55,304,371 55,304,371 ð ð ð 
Open ended mutual funds 21,714,369 21,714,369 ð ð ð 

$ 211,409,810 111,002,795 26,008,153 37,372,705 37,026,157 

 

2016

Less More

Investment type Fair value than 1 1 ï 5 6 ï 10 than 10

U.S. Government obligations $ 28,092,677 26,102,357 1,990,320 ð ð 

U.S. Government agencies 98,569,230 6,806,160 18,649,596 28,267,168 44,846,306 

Guaranteed investment contract 8,416,250 ð ð ð 8,416,250 

Money market 59,149,618 59,149,618 ð ð ð 

Open ended mutual funds 12,319,271 12,319,271 ð ð ð 

$ 206,547,046 104,377,406 20,639,916 28,267,168 53,262,556 

(d) Credit Risk 

The Commission follows its investment policy listed above in regard to the credit worthiness of its 

investments.  The Commissionôs fixed income investments as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were 

rated by Standard and Poorôs rating scale and/or an equivalent national rating organization, and the 

ratings are presented below using the Standard and Poorôs rating scale: 

 

2017

Investment type Fair value AAA AA Not rated

U.S. Government obligations $ 2,311,374 2,311,374 ð ð 

U.S. Government agencies 123,663,446 101,463,140 ð 22,200,306 

Guaranteed investment contract 8,416,250 ð ð 8,416,250 

Money market 55,304,371 ð 55,304,371 ð 

Open ended mutual funds 21,714,369 21,714,369 ð ð 

$ 211,409,810 125,488,883 55,304,371 30,616,556 

 


